08:09

# Social entrepreneurship

innovation is possible in established structures







**CSE** Publications

Monika Fæster Sara Rago

Social entrepreneurship or how open social innovation is possible in established structures

Monika Fæster & Sara Rago Social entrepreneurship or how open social innovation is possible in established structures

CSE Publications 08:09 Center for Socialt Entreprenørskab Roskilde Universitet

En udgivelse i serien CSE Publications 1. udgave 2009

Sats: Vibeke Lihn

Tryk: Kopicentralen, RUC

ISBN: 978-87-7349-756-2

Udgivet af
Center for Socialt Entreprenørskab
Institut for Psykologi og Uddannelsesforskning
Roskilde Universitet
Telefon 4674 2021
E-mail cese@ruc.dk
www.ruc.dk/paes/cse/

### **CONTENTS**

INTRODUCTION5
THE CASE OF "REARRANGEMENT OF DEBT SERVICE" AND OPEN SOCIAL INNOVATION
THE INNOVATION FIELD IN A DANISH WELFARE CONTEXT 6
DEFINITION OF INNOVATION AS INCREMENTAL OPEN SOCIAL INNOVATION8
OPEN SOCIAL INNOVATION IN ESTABLISHED STRUCTURES 10
OPEN SOCIAL INNOVATION IN A LEARNING PERSPECTIVE 11
NEW INSTITUTIONALISM AND OPEN SOCIAL INNOVATION 13
OPEN SOCIAL INNOVATION UNDER PRESSURE: ISOMORPHISM 15
BOURDIEU'S CONCEPTS OF CAPITAL AND OPEN SOCIAL INNOVATION 16
CONCLUSION 17
REFERENCES

#### SOCIAL ENTREPRENEURSHIP OR HOW OPEN SOCIAL

#### INNOVATION IS POSSIBLE IN ESTABLISHED STRUCTURES

#### INTRODUCTION

This paper describes *open social innovation* defined as new ideas that are implemented in cross sector cooperation to solve social assignments. In Denmark there is an ongoing political debate that focuses on the assignments of the welfare state and how these assignments should be organized in the future. There is consensus among the political spectra that the future challenge is to solve welfare assignments more (cost) efficiently and in an innovative way. One of the solutions to these challenges is to have more cross sector cooperation and the political debate concerning cross sector cooperation has made the theories about social entrepreneurship important again. The reason for this is that the discussions of social entrepreneurship in many ways are related to cross sector cooperation and social innovation. Through a presentation of a case the existing possibilities for open social innovation in a country with a fine-meshed welfare state will be discussed. We will describe how the participants position themselves through negotiations and how they support or exclude ideas and projects and discuss whether cross sector cooperation result in new and innovative solutions to welfare problems.

The central question is whether it is possible through open innovation to change/influence established structures and those cultural systems that define and legitimize these structures.

Keywords: Bourdieu, new-institutionalism, social entrepreneurship, isomorphism and incremental open social innovation.

## THE CASE OF "REARRANGEMENT OF DEBT SERVICE" AND OPEN SOCIAL INNOVATION

A large well-established non-profit organization (which preferred to be anonymous) experienced, due to the financial crisis, a new demand from middle-class citizens that were deeply in debt. The idea was to establish a service for these citizens and give them a chance to rearrange their debt into loans with lower interests (the "rearrangement of debt" service). The non-profit organization planed to do so in cooperation with the local bank and the municipality. The local bank accepted the request without hesitation and agreed to give the users some free advice from the banks accountant (most likely the bank saw an opportunity to gain new customers). The municipality on the other hand rejected the idea completely. However the non-profit

organization managed to sell the idea on governmental level and the idea was implemented by the Welfare Ministry. The Welfare Ministry also funded four other large well established non-profit organizations in four different cities. The "rearrangement of debt" service was accepted on governmental level and is an example of a local idea that was implemented nationally.

Before we made the interviews we had, though literature, established our position and definition of social innovation to be given within a historical, social and cultural context. We have conducted semi-structured interviews with politicians, civil servants and the non-profit organization in this specific case.

What the actors perceive as innovative depends on different interests, positions and norms among the involved participants. Thus the actor's definition of what is innovative is more and different from only a classification or listing of objective criteria's. Together with the interviews this perspective gives us the opportunity to describe whether it is possible through open innovation to change/influence established structures and those cultural systems that define and legitimize these structures. In this paper we will present the main conclusions from our analysis when we describe the theories and when we describe our definition of innovation.

#### THE INNOVATION FIELD IN A DANISH WELFARE CONTEXT

Bourdieu describes *society* as a series of autonomous micro-worlds that work within their own logic, which he calls *fields* (Bourdieu & Wacquant 1992 p. 84).¹ For instance the *innovation field* covers the relations between different actors/groups and their positions within the innovation field, this being on global, governmental as well as on local level.²

In our case the innovation field consists of the different positions and alliances between politicians, civil servants, citizens and non-profit organizations. The innovation field is thereby defined through the specific distribution of power and capital that the actors have and invest in the innovation field and determines the way actors talk and understand the innovation field.

Innovation, at governmental level, is defined as methods that can run the welfare state more cost effectively (this is probably not the way non-profit organizations

<sup>1</sup> The *field* concept must be regarded as a theoretical concept which forces us to make a critical construction of reality (Bourdieu 1992 p. 96). A field can not be studied *a priori*, but must always be studied empirically (Bourdieu 1992 pp. 92-93, DiMaggio and Powell 1991 p. 65).

<sup>2</sup> For instance the innovation field in Denmark is a part of the way OECD countries position themselves regarding to the rest of the world. Western countries perceive them selves as more technologically advanced (the postcolonial myth) and to stay in the lead governments and businesses must innovate (Bacon, Faizullah, Mulgan, Woodcraft 2008 p. 4). In that sense globalization and risk society frames the very way the West think and talk about innovation. The combination, the illusion of being a head and the necessity to stay a head makes innovation not only an opportunity to do things differently, or a natural process in a society, but a relentless demand because of fear of being left behind (Mik-Meyer and Villadsen 2007 pp. 146-168).

would define innovation). The broad welfare debate in Denmark criticizes that the solutions to welfare problems are too "universal", that we need more "freedom from rules" and that we, at the same time, need to solve welfare problems more cost effectively. A central argument across the political spectra is that the legitimization of the future welfare state lies in a new distribution of tasks between: government, market and civil society. The ongoing debate is how this could best be done (in a social entrepreneurship perspective: Andersen, Hulgård, Bisballe 2008, Hulgård 2004, Nyssens 2006, Rago, Fæster 2008, Borzaga, Loss 2006).

At governmental level new public management is seen as an ideal model for the welfare state, the state is seen as a business and citizens are, so to speak, customers in the welfare "shop". Different welfare assignments are distributed to subcontractors, for instance the voluntary sector and they execute social assignments on behalf of the state. Both the demand for effectiveness and more cross sector cooperation is present in the governments "Quality reform" paper from 2007 (The Governments Quality reform 2007 p. 34, citation is our translation):

"The voluntary work is an important part of the combined effort and supports diversity and quality. The government will assess whether the subsidies from the state to the voluntary sector can be granted more effectively. The municipalities are urged to develop coherent politics for the voluntary sector..."

On the other hand the municipalities are not interested in more cross sector cooperation (Rambøll management 2006 p. 3, citation our translation):

"We have taken the pulse on the cooperation between the municipalities and the counties support to the local nonprofit sector, and unfortunately we can see that the developments in the cooperation for most parts have stopped. Or even worse: Never really started. Therefore the cooperation could use a shot in the arm."

Generally the report from Rambøll management is critical to the existing cooperation between the municipalities and the non-profit organizations. The main focus in the rapport is on barriers rather than possibilities for cross sector cooperation. We find the critic serious because the rapport states that the so called §115-cooperation is actually being funded by the government by a block grant (Rambøll management 2006 p. 4). Therefore we interpret the lack of cooperation as a lack of interest in involving and informing non-profit organizations about their possibilities to develop new services and subsidies. This is also confirmed in the rapport (Rambøll management 2006 s. 8), as the rapport shows there are barriers for open innovation. When we enter the innovation field we are not in a neutral zone, on the contrary, we enter a field that is already positioned. Therefore we can not assess failure or success of an idea only by looking at the idea it self, but we must pay attention to the innovation field that accept or reject the idea. As our case the "rearrangement of debt" service

shows, the municipality refused the idea, but the idea was accepted and funded on governmental level by the Ministry of Welfare.

Because of the financial crisis the municipalities are granted more money from the government to solve social problems. One could assume that funding of social projects, instead of funding cooperation (§115-cooperation), will result in more cross sector cooperation (it is of course difficult to have cross sector cooperation if there are no money for projects).

#### DEFINITION OF INNOVATION AS INCREMENTAL OPEN SOCIAL INNOVATION

Innovation describes ideas that work on all levels, by everybody and between everybody (Bacon, Faizullah, Mulgan, Woodcraft 2008 p. 13). It is clear that we can not a priori, exclude specific groups or persons. On the other hand when we describe innovation we need a focus and a demarcation of the concept. We define innovation as open social innovation and distinguish between radical and incremental innovation. Radical innovation is an entirely new way of thinking and doing things that render old methods (or products if in a business concept) obsolete. On the other hand incremental innovation refers to a gradual change. That is to say that innovation comes from something already existing and the new idea or method is implemented into existing methods or products (Bacon, Faizullah, Mulgan, Woodcraft 2008 p. 14). In our case where a service for people indebt was established, this idea can hardly be called radical innovation. However it is an incremental innovation, because even though the idea is not new, such a service did not exist in this area before, the non-profit organization never cooperated with a bank and the citizens that need the financial advice come from the "middle-class", therefore the "clients" are very different from the groups that this specific non-profit organization normally are in contact with.

We also differentiate between innovation and social innovation. We are not interested in innovation from a business perspective (commercial innovation), where a business develops products (Chesbrough 2006). We are interested in social innovation that originates from social needs and we define social innovation as new ideas that are implemented and driven by social needs (Bisballe 2006 p. 2, Borzaga and Solari 2001 p. 333, Helmig, Jegers, Lapsey 2004, Drayton 2006, Austin, Stevenson Wei-Skillern 2006 p. 2, Bacon, Faizullah, Mulgan, Woodcraft 2008 p. 13). Social innovation comes from both non-profit organizations and social enterprises. In our case our main focus is on a non-profit organization where profits (if any) is reinvested in society (for difference between non-profits organizations and social enterprises see: EMES definition of social enterprise. Defourney, Nyssens 2006 pp. 5-6. Difference and similarities between the voluntary sector and social enterprises in a Danish context see: Hulgård 2006 pp. 50-58, Rago, Fæster 2008. Differences between entrepreneurs and social enterpreneurs see Dees 2001).

We distinguish between, what we call 1) individual innovation, 2) structural innovation and 3) open innovation defined as new ideas that are implemented through cross sector cooperation.

- 1) Individual innovation is especially predominant within the American literature and is described within the literature of the entrepreneur and the social entrepreneur. Everyone, with no regards to age, gender, ethnicity or handicap has the potential to be a social entrepreneur (Drayton 2006, Davis 2002 p. 3, Schneider, Teske, Mintrom 1995 pp. 10-12). The social entrepreneur is different from the entrepreneur described in management theory, because the social entrepreneur does not innovate primarily for profit. There might be economical benefits but the "trigger" is the social indignation (Dees 2001, Martin & Osberg 2007 pp. 34, 37, Hulgård, Spear 2006 p. 85). A social entrepreneur is a person that is capable of breaking with traditional ways of thinking and in the literature they are very often described as having a flair for opportunity, to be goal-oriented and to have courage, fortitude and willpower (Davis 2002 p. 3, Manzini 2006 p. 2, Martin & Osberg 2007 pp. 32-33, James, Faizullah, Bacon, Bartlett, Harrison, Mulgan 2007 p. 9, p. 11, Mulgan, Ali, Halkett, Sanders 2007 p. 12). Because of these characteristics the social entrepreneur is able to discover new products or methods that will improve specific group's social conditions (Leadbeater 1997 p. 2, Martin & Osberg 2007 p. 30 p. 35). A very important point from social entrepreneurship theories is that individuals are able to influence and change established structures through the development and implementation of new ideas.
- 2) Structural innovation is innovation within the organization. This could be innovation by employees or by the management or even between the municipalities (with the same organizational norms). Structural innovation is especially known from patent oriented companies (e.g. medic industry) where product development is a business secret. Innovation that takes place within the organization is often driven by large well-established organizations, rather than small business entrepreneurs. In Schumpeter's view it is primarily large organizations that can afford to be innovative (Schumpeter 1942 p. 106 from lecture by professor Hans Landström): "... what we have got to accept is that the large-scale establishment has come to be the most powerful engine of progress." Structures as well as individuals are important factors when we look at open innovation and, as we will discuss further below, both the aspects of structural and individual innovation plays an important role in open innovation because it involves issues regarding the structure/actor discussion.
- 3) Finally we have open innovation which is innovation developed in cross sector cooperation (in our case between a municipality, a bank, a non-profit organization and users of the "rearrangement of debt" service). Henry Chesbrough uses the term open innovation to describe how "businesses at lower-cost and at higher-quality can develop ideas from the best sources by letting the company develop new ideas in collaboration with the outside world." (Chesbrough, Vanhaverbeke, West

2006 p. 1). A central point is that open innovation happens between actors from different organizations; it is because of the cooperation that an idea is developed and implemented. E.g. the non-profit organization in our case found a solution to a specific local problem in cooperation with citizens and a local bank. But the non-profit organization lacked the money to implement the idea. The municipality on the other hand have the obligation (through legislation) to solve social welfare problems and also the money to do so. Some of these obligations are solved and further developed within the municipality itself (structural innovation e.g. childcare), but other assignments as the "rearrangement of debt" service, could have been solved through cooperation with a non-profit organization.

We are inspired by Eric von Hippels definition of innovation as user-centric democratized innovation (Hippel 2005 p. 2, Hippel 2007 p. 293).<sup>3</sup> The driving force in open innovation, as we define open innovation, is that innovation must be user-driven (bottom-up). From our point of view citizens are not only "customers" in the welfare "shop" (as in traditional new public management theory). On the contrary citizens themselves define and develop welfare services and thereby act as their own agents (Hippel 2005 pp. 1-2). This development is a step away from a welfare state which can be compared to a manufacturing method where a "few-sizes-fits-all" (Hippel 2005 p. 5).

#### OPEN SOCIAL INNOVATION IN ESTABLISHED STRUCTURES

Before open innovation is possible it is necessary to accept that structures, such as a municipality, are able to change and that actors outside the organization are able to influence actors within a organization. According to Bourdieu, institutions, such as a municipality, both regulate our behaviour through norms (cultural capital) and economy (economical capital), but at the same time institutions are themselves being regulated by norms in society (often through media), legislation and public opinion (Bourdieu 1992 pp. 88-89).<sup>4</sup>

Both Bourdieu and New-Institutionalism view organizations as open systems that are influenced from the outside world and therefore actions and decisions within the organization are not decided in advance. Another crucial point is that in reality it is not possible to clearly confirm where opinions and norms originated from. This is due to the fact that the Danish welfare state (through the education system) regulates

<sup>3</sup> Eric von Hippel defines users broadly, as both firms (could be nonprofit organizations) or actors that expect to benefit from using a product or service (Hippel 2005 p. 3).

<sup>4</sup> Bourdieu disagrees with a structualistic sociology where structures are closed systems and where actions are determined by structures (e.g. Althussers determinism). On the other hand Bourdieu is careful not to give the actors complete autonomy, responsibility and freedom (as in Satres existentialism). In this perspective social entrepreneurs are not only defined by characteristics of the individual, but the social entrepreneur is also defined by structures (e.g. through education and employment in a specific organization).

the actors' cognitive perception of the world by influencing the way we categorize our world. We could say that the structure is within us and that at the same time we define those structures (Bourdieu 1992 pp. 126-158). Therefore the role of the actor and structure is a complex problem and intertwined. For instance non-profit organizations play an important role as the politicians "eyes" and "ears". Therefore the actors in the non-profit organizations should be able to influence politicians. In that sense the actors from the municipality and from the non-profit sector engage in a complex construction of "interpreting" the world and the social entrepreneur plays a advocacy role for citizens and a role as a "mediator" between citizens and the municipality (Bisballe 2006 p. 14). The question is how open a huge well established cultural organization as a municipality really is. If the municipality only accepts ideas from those nonprofit organizations that imitate the municipality the most, then the services that are negotiated in open innovation will only be the right hand of the welfare state which we can not call innovation (Gerometta, Häussermann Longo 2005 p. 2013). Looking at theories concerning the social entrepreneur the point is that the social entrepreneur is able to implement new ideas, even though it is not an easy thing to do. Our approach to how actors influence structures and vice versa is dialectic. We believe that the subject can challenge established systems and that well-established organizations can accept new ideas, as well as well-established organizations can influence actors to incorporate the organizations values in his/her way of doing things. Even though innovation is sometime described as "budding" or branch off, as an uncontrollable, unpredictable process, which need time and effort to develop, we also accept that there should be a frame in developing new ideas or as the Young Foundation writes (James, Faizullah, Bacon, Bartlett, Harrison, Mulgan p. 11):

"There is a delicate balance to be struck between the creativity and experimentation, some would say chaos, that is crucial to innovation, and the need for institutional support and learning to make innovations grow and spread."

NESTA have studied how open innovation leads to untraditional solutions to local problems and they conclude that even though cross sector cooperation is difficult there are also economical advantages (Bacon, Faizullah, Mulgan, Woodcraft 2008 p. 135):

"Partnerships and alliances are an essential way to overcome capacity restraints. Through working together, organizations can pool resources and dissipate risk. This is of particular importance in the case of social innovation where resources are limited."

#### OPEN SOCIAL INNOVATION IN A LEARNING PERSPECTIVE

Our understanding of open social innovation is (user-driven) idea development through cross sector cooperation. If we consider open social innovation from a perspective of learning, it becomes easier to understand why cross sector cooperation often goes hand in hand with the creation of new ideas. The development of new ideas happens within a learning space which is created by the actors when they influence and are influenced by each others different world perspectives. Even though conflicts in cross sector cooperation often exist (Andersen 1999, Bacon, Faizullah, Mulgan, Woodcraft 2008 p. 133, Gerometta, Häusermann, Longo 2005 p. 2019), these conflicts are not necessarily negative for the development of ideas. This is due to the fact that the actors in a conflict situation challenge each others categorizations of the world in a way that both contribute to sharpen and further develop their own ideas and to define new ideas that can contribute to solutions to a social problem.

On the other hand NESTA and the Youth Foundation argue that new ideas are only accepted, because the actors involved have accepted that the other party have a central role in the solution to a given problem. NESTA's examples come from studying cooperation between municipalities and non-profit organizations in developing new solutions for social problems. The cases are mainly from England, but they have also made studies in Europe and America and they conclude that there is only room to create new ideas, when the public sector has acknowledged the voluntary sector as competent and as an important cooperation partner (Bacon, Faizullah. Mulgan, Woodcraft 2008 pp. 129-131).

With recognition a "space" is created for further development of an idea. Therefore acceptance is vital to obtain a "positive" atmosphere that is needed for an idea to develop (Moulart, Martinelli, Swyngedouw, Gonzalez 2004, Mulgan, Ali, Halkett, Sanders 2007, Mulgan, Tucker, Ali, Sanders 2007).

In our case study we conclude that the reasons, which the non-profit organization had for starting the "rearrangement of debt" service, were not accepted by the municipality. On the other hand the idea was accepted at the governmental level. The municipality did not accept the idea, because the non-profit organization had historically been critical towards the municipality. It was clear that the non-profit organization went too far in their critique in regards to cooperation with the municipality. When one is analyzing open innovation it is important to understand historical factors, because specific historical connections can determine the outcome of cross sector cooperation. In the specific case it was rather the relationship than the idea that leads to the rejection of the idea. The idea and who got the idea is therefore equally important, because the evaluation of an idea does not happen in a "value free" context on basis of objective criteria's (Bourdieu 1998 pp. 57-58), or as professor Lars Hulgård writes (Hulgård 2007 p. 58)

"When an individual action becomes a social entrepreneurship, adding a value to the social field and involve a change in the social field, it is absurd to imagine that the contribution can be understood independent of this field. It is part of the institutional configuration."

From the "rearrangement of debt" service" case we observe that innovation and what society accepts as innovative are intertwined and inseparable and that both new ideas and structures influence each other (even though the municipality did not act, the government did). The question is what the crucial factor is. Is it the idea itself or is it the acceptance of an idea that matters the most? The answer must be found in the specific case but the theories that we use also play a major role, because theories focus on different aspects about society and the actor/structure role.

#### NEW INSTITUTIONALISM AND OPEN SOCIAL INNOVATION

A central discussion in open innovation is with which logic an organization as a public organization operates. Especially theories from Old Public Administration, New Public Administration (Public choice), New Public Management and New-Institutionalism are dominant. We have chosen to understand public organizations as different from a business, which is primarily profit driven and therefore must be as effective as possible, and instead understand public organizations as structures that legitimize their existence through stability, norms, social values and "myth" creation (New-Institutionalism). We do this well aware of the fact that at present in Denmark there is a hegemonic discourse to understand the welfare state through the concepts of New Public Management.

The reason why a municipality is divided into political departments as: the children and youth department, the social and health department, the culture and leisure department, the environment and technical department and the economical department, is that these areas defines the municipalities responsibility through legislation. A municipality is a political system and therefore not only upheld because it is a rational structure, or even an effective structure, but because the organization protects and legitimizes values and norms that the citizens perceive as important (March, Olsen 1989 pp. 95-116, p. 159, Meyer and Rowan 1977, Dimaggio and Powell 1991 p. 65, Brown, Leach, Covey 2004). A crucial point in those theories of New-Institutionalism that are inspired by Bourdieu's theory, is that organizations are fields that communicate through a network (social capital) and those institutions are open systems that citizens and other organizations can influence (March, Olsen 1989 pp. 53-67). A large public organization as the municipality is rarely rational, on the contrary a municipality has many different political goals and values within the departments. Therefore the organization will tend to choose already well established and successful methods. From a New-Institutional perspective institutions legitimize their existence through "codes of appropriate behaviour". This means that even though municipalities are not rational, they will be pressured to act as if they were rational. The point is that the "myth" of rationalization is more important than the question of whether a municipality is rational or not (March, Olsen 117-142, Mik-Meyer and Villadsen 2007 p. 123).

In our interviews the actors often mentions ideals and myths of how a non-profit organization or a municipality should be and it was clear to us, that the actors use a lot of time and resources to explain how "the others" are acting and how they should act accordingly (creating myths of them selves and the others).

The creation of myths becomes a problem when resources are used to adjust to myths of rationalization (the pressure being huge because of the media and the discourse from new public management), instead of actually solving welfare assignments. Mik-Meyer and Villadsen put the problem quite adequately (Mik-Meyer and Villadsen 2007 p. 125 our translation):

"...that welfare organizations in many cases could be considered to be more oriented towards adopting and showing the institutional myths than to investigate how the specific structures, processes and technologies work with consideration to the users – whether the best social help, employment training, treatment, integration, recovery etc. is provided for the citizens."

The worry is that the municipality could refuse new ideas from citizens and non-profit organizations, when these ideas do not fit within the myth of a municipality as a rational structure. In the case of the "rearrangement of debt" service, the municipality is concerned about sponsoring a service, where citizens are given economical advice that potentially could happen on the expense of the municipality (e.g. if a citizen owes the municipality money). Recently a municipality sponsored a city party (the non-profit organization Openhagen -Undoing the City) where those people involved in the party literally smashed an entire street. The municipality was subsequently accused in the media for not keeping enough control with funding for cultural arrangements. This shows that when the municipality funds a service/event, they give their approval to that event and thereby the "myth" that "the municipality is rational and only fund rational projects" is put to the test. Hence idea development with organizations outside the municipality could be a potential problem for the municipality; because services or events organized by non-profit organizations are out of the municipality's control and the employees in the non-profit organization are not necessarily loyal to the municipality. Therefore when the municipality judges an idea, they take into account whether the idea is potentially a political problem, moreover politicians and civil servants judge the idea as "good" if it fits the tasks or problems that the municipality has at the present time.

At the moment municipalities are criticized at governmental level for not being sufficiently effective. Because the municipalities deliver products that are difficult to measure or test exactly such as: child and elder care, job training, rehabilitation, it is essential for the municipality to demonstrate (via homepage, rapports, public meetings, services), that they deliver the products effectively and live up to established norms and rules in society. If there is little trust in the municipalities from the government or the public the municipalities are more likely to be reluctant to experiment

and develop new ideas with partners outside the municipality. On the other hand municipalities play an important role as role models, because the municipality both delivers welfare assignments and delivers these according to expected norms and values. Therefore the municipality's methods become the "right" methods to solve social assignments. The danger is if no one, not even the non-profit organizations, asks fundamental questions about the way things are done or choose to imitate the same methods and services that the municipality are doing in order to get access to funding (Mik-Meyer and Villadsen 2007 p. 137-138).

#### OPEN SOCIAL INNOVATION UNDER PRESSURE: ISOMORPHISM

As we have mentioned earlier there are many concepts and definitions of innovation. DiMaggio and Powell focus on *organizational innovation* and they want to know why organizations develop and innovate (DiMaggio and Powell 1991 p. 65): "Early adopters of organizational innovations are commonly driven by desire to improve performance."

Inspired by New-institutionalism, DiMaggio and Powell emphasize, that innovation not only happen because of performance criteria, but also on the basis of legitimatization (DiMaggio and Powell 1991 p. 65). DiMaggio and Powell points to the fact that there is a limit to how many times an organization is able to self develop, therefore rather than changing all the time, the organization will instead try to imitate already successful organizations leading to large structures that all look alike (DiMaggio and Powell 1991 p. 64): "Once a field becomes well established, however, there is an inexorable push toward homogenization." The risk is that a well established cultural organization like the municipality will choose a strategy where the organization dominates its environment instead of adjusting to the environment. This is a central problem concerning open innovation because instead of developing new (risky) ideas for social methods or services the actors are pressured to imitate already successful projects. DiMaggio and Powell describe three different forms of isomorphism: normative, coercive and mimetic isomorphism that all influence open innovation on different levels.

- 1) Normative isomorphism: these are pressures brought about by professions. People from the same educational backgrounds will approach problems in much the same way and socialization on the job reinforces these conformities.
- 2) Institutional isomorphism is pressures from organizations (e.g. the municipality) in which smaller organizations are dependent upon (e.g. the non-profit organization) and by cultural expectations from society (e.g. myths about rationality or specific norms to "clients"). In the innovation field, the non-profit sector is under pressure by financial reporting requirements and a demand for more documentation. If projects funded by the municipality all focus on the same problem, e.g. unemployment, only those services delivering "employment" will be accepted, the more or less unintentional consequence being that other social services are left unsolved.

3) *Mimetic isomorphism*: organizations imitate those ones that are successful. Especially uncertainty and pressure to create value for money in the first attempt, force organizations to imitate those organizations that are successful (Houlberg 2000).

Therefore when we look at the innovation field it is also important to take into account that not only actor's pressure structures, but structures also pressure structures.

#### BOURDIEU'S CONCEPTS OF CAPITAL AND OPEN SOCIAL INNOVATION

Bourdieu wanted to remove the artificial division between the economical field and the social field. Bourdieu wanted to break with the "over socialization" of social phenomenon's where the cultural stayed "uncontaminated" by economy (Bourdieu 1986 p. 242-243) and therefore in Bourdieu's definition of capital both material and non-material phenomenon's total the resources of a society (Bourdieu 1980). As we have described earlier the social entrepreneur also have economical interests even though it is the social indignation that is the "trigger", for instance social enterprises both have a social and an economical interest in developing social services or user-driven innovation (we have previously focused on a social enterprise and therefore chosen to work with a non-profit organization in this paper. Rago and Fæster 2009).

According to Bourdieu there are three forms of capital: cultural, social and economic capital.<sup>6</sup> All three forms of capital are inscribed in both objective as well as subjective structures and determine the way a society "works", capital is, so to speak, the "glue" of society (Bourdieu 1996 p. 242). Our main focus in this paper is on social capital. Bourdieu describes "social capital" as (Bourdieu 1986 p. 248-249):

"The network of relationships is the product of investment strategies (..) aimed at establishing or reproducing social relationships that are directly usable in the short or long term."

<sup>5</sup> Bourdieu's definition of capital is different from the economical definition of capital, which is a resource that makes production easier without being consumed in the production process (capital is a production factor). In an economical perspective capital can not be separated from production whether it is physical capital (machines, buildings) or whether it is financial or human capital (investment, education). The consequence is that profit maximizing is central and is not used to describe cultural implications (Bourdieu 1986 p. 253).

<sup>6</sup> Economic capital is defined as money/production and is capital in the traditional sense. Cultural capital is divided into three subcategories; objective capital (those things created by humans e.g. books, tools, buildings), institutionalized capital (educational qualifications) and the third form of cultural capital is habitus. Habitus is the embodiment of cultural capital. It is a subject's preference to do things in a certain way and to like or dislike specific things. E.g. a person could live in a specific place (in the city), live there in a specific way (design furniture) and eat in specific places (restaurants), but also eat the food in a specific way (table manners). On one hand habitus is a disposition for interpretation and for creating practice and is therefore forming our perspective of the world but also frame our possibility to act in a given situation. On the other hand we are free reflective and active subjects and that our actions influence the world that we live in.

The actors spend time and effort to build all three forms of capital and that is why capital is of value and of interest. Hence both individuals as well as groups have developed strategies to gain capital. A crucial point with Bourdieu's understanding of capital is that it is possible for the actors to "convert" the different forms of capital (Kay 2006 p. 162). For instance the non-profit organizations can convert their social capital (network) to funds (economical capital) if their social services are accepted by the municipality. In our case we have become aware that different actors do not convert their social capital equally. When non-profit organizations enter the municipalities "control system", they are foremost being evaluated on their ability to conduct services that the municipality perceives as important (before the financial crisis it was especially services that could help "match group 4 and 5" into employment that was prioritized). It should be emphasized that the services the municipality prioritize only have the effect of a control system in the sense that they exclude other projects that non-profit organizations would rather do.

#### CONCLUSION

Our question in the beginning of the article was whether it is possible through open innovation to change/influence established structures and those cultural systems that define and legitimize these structures.

As regards to the municipality and open innovation it is important that the municipality accepts the idea as a good/useful idea. Therefore the municipality acts rather as a gatekeeper than facilitator of ideas. Even though the implementation of an idea is described in this article as a group process, there is no doubt that, on the political level, the social entrepreneurs ability to act rationally (habitus) is judged as much as the idea itself. This implies that idea/personality is judged together with the idea and must be understood as inseparable. The social entrepreneur must therefore both "fit" the municipality's judgment of taste and the idea must fit within established norms that legitimize the municipality. This makes the path for developing ideas very narrow. It is clear to us that the issue of citizenship and citizen's rights to develop ideas that influence their everyday life, must play a much more essential part of the discussions of social entrepreneurship than it does to day.

For us it is also clear that the will to develop ideas through open innovation exist. Politicians do want to negotiate ideas because they fundamentally believe that welfare solutions should be solved more diverse and with more capacity than today. Politicians as well as public servants acknowledge that many local problems are solved better by local actors and therefore especially local cultural and leisure arrangements are being subsidized. But it is also clear that the municipality only accepts those ideas that fit within the concept of the municipality's own ideas. Therefore we need to be much more critical when we address the possibilities for open innovation. Is innovation between the non-profit organizations and the municipalities' innovation in the sense that we understand the concept: new ways of thinking? Or is innovation,

in our case, just a matter of implementation of welfare assignments, already accepted by the state. Thereby social entrepreneurs consolidate established structures as the municipality and legitimize that the welfare state continue in the traditional way. Finally the case shows that even though social capital is held equally by all the participants (the have equal rights to participate and develop ideas), the possibility to convert social capital into other forms of capital is not equal. Politicians convert their social capital to political goodwill within the population and thereby securing themselves re-election. Civil servants convert their social capital into more influence and thereby expand their administration. To access economical capital the non-profit organizations are totally dependent on social capital. The consequence is that every time the non-profit organizations negotiate new ideas with the municipality, there is a great pressure to imitate already successful projects. The voluntary sector can, literary speaking, not afford to present totally new ideas, because they are dependent on money from the municipality, thereby the municipality have too much control for open innovation to flourish. As we have mentioned earlier social innovation can best be described as branch off and as an uncontrollable, unpredictable process, which needs time and effort to develop. In the structure of a municipality there is given little room for error and therefore many ideas are stopped before they have a chance to develop fully. This is consistent with theories of the social entrepreneur that describe how social entrepreneurs develop ideas against all odds and have to accept many rejections. We believe that our case shows that the municipality is making the idea process unnecessary difficult and advocate for more open innovation.

#### **REFERENCES**

- Andersen L. Linda (1999): "Discipline, Marketization or Democracy. Six Statements about the Adult Education Perspective in Danish Modernisation" In Lifelong Learning and Experience. Roskilde University. Roskilde.
- Andersen L. Linda, Hulgård Lars, Bisballe Lise (2008): "Socialt entreprenørskab i Danmark et aktuelt signalement." Roskilde Universitet. CSE Årsrapport 2008.
- Andersen L. Linda, Hulgård Lars (2008): "Workplaces with an Inclusive Profile and their Everyday Strategies. Social Enterprises and Work Integration in Denmark." Paper for International Workshop on Ethnographies of the Social Economy. 14-15. March. Cosin's Hall, Palace Green. University of Durham.
- Austin James, Stevenson Howard, Wei-Skillern Jane (2006): "Social and Commercial Entrepreneurship: Same, Different or Both?" Entrepreneurship: Theory and Practice. pp. 1-22.
- Bacon Nicola, Faizullah Nusrat, Mulgan Geoff, Woodcraft Saffron (2008): "Transformers How local areas innovate to address changing social needs." NESTA. National Endowment for Science, Technology and Arts. UK.
- Bisballe Lise (2006): "Social Entrepreneurship as a Space for Intercultural Communication and Innovation." The Intercultural City.

- Borzaga Carlo, Loss Monica (2006): "Multiple goals and multi-stakeholder management in Italian social enterprises." In Social Enterprise Nyssens Marthe (ed.) 2006. Routledge. London.
- Borzaga Carlo, Santuari Alceste (ed.) (1998): "Social enterprises and new employment in Europe." Regionel autonoma Trentino-Alto Adige. Cooperation Department: European Commission. Consorzio nazionale della Cooperazione sociale.
- Borzaga Carlo, Solari Luca (2001): "Management Challenges for Social Enterprises" in The Emergence of Social Enterprise. Routledge. London
- Bourdieu Pierre (1980): "The production of belief: contribution to an economy of symbolic goods" in Media, Culture and Society, vol. 2. pp. 261-293 Media, Culture and Society.
- Bourdieu Pierre (1986): "The Forms of Capital" in J. G. Richardson (ed.) Handbook of Theory and Research for the Sociology of Education pp. 242-258. new York. Greenwood Press.
- Bourdieu Pierre, Wacquant J. D. Löic (1992): "An Invitation to Reflexive Sociology." The University of Chicago Press.
- Bourdieu Pierre (1998): "Practical reason: on the theory of action" Stanford University Press.
- Brown L. David, Leach Mark, Covey G. Jane (2004): "Organization Development for Social Change" in Handbook of Organization Development. Sage Publications. California.
- Chesbrough Henry, Vanhaverbeke Wim, West Joel (2006): "Open Innovation: Researching a New Paradigm." Oxford University Press.
- Defourney Jacque (2001): "Introduction: From Third Sector to Social Enterprise." In the Emergence of Social Enterprise. Routledge. London.
- Defourney Jacque, Nyssens Martha (2006): "Defining social enterprise." In Social Enterprise. At the crossroads of market, public policies and civil society.
- Dees J. Geoffrey (2001): "The meaning of "Social Entrepreneurship." http://www.caseatduke.org/documents/dees sedef.pdf
- DiMaggio J. Paul, Powell W. Walter (1991): "The Iron Cage Revisited: Institutional Isomorphism and Collective Rationality in Organizational Fields." in The New institutionalism in organizational analysis 1991. The University of Chicago Press.
- Drayton Bill (2006): "Everyone A Changemaker –Social Entrepreneurship's Ultimate Goal." Innovations. MIT Press.
- Gerometta Julia, Häussermann Hartmut, Longo Giulia (2005): "Social innovation and Civil Society in Urban Governance: Strategies for an inclusive City." Urban Studies. Vol. 42. No. pp. 2007-2011. October 2005.
- Helmig Bernd, Jegers Marc, Lapsey Irvine (2004): "Challenges in Managing Nonprofit Organizations: A Research OVerview." Working Paper Series Nonprofit Management. WP NPO no. 1/2004. University of Fribourg Switerland.
- Hippel von Eric (2007): "Horizontal innovation networks –by and for users." in Industrial and Corporate Change." Volumen 16, number 2, pp. 293-315.

- Hippel von Eric (2005): "Democratizing Innovation." The MIT Press Cambridge. London. Free download on: http://web.mit.edu/evhippel/www/democ1.htm
- Houlberg Kurt (2000): "Udgiftspolitisk isomorfisme de danske kommuner I nøgletallenes vold?" in Politica, bind 32. 2000/ pp. 262-281.
- Hulgård Lars (2004): "Entrepreneurship in Community development and Local Governance." in Tampering with tradition: The unrealized Authority of Democratic Agency. Bogason Peter, Kensen Sandra, Miller T. Hugh (ed.) 2004. Lexington Books.
- Hulgård Lars (2006): "Danish social enterprises: a public-third sector partnership." In Social Enterprise Nyssens Marthe (ed.) 2006. Routledge. London.
- Hulgård Lars, Roger Spear (2006): "Social entrepreneurship and the mobilization of social capital in European social enterprises." In Social Enterprise Nyssens Marthe (ed.) 2006. Routledge. London.
- Hulgård Lars (2004): "Entrepreneurship in Community Development and Local Governance" in Tampering with Tradition: The unrealized Authority of Democratic Agency. Lexington Books.
- James Saffron, Faizullah Nusrat, Bacon Nicola, Bartlett Liz, Harrison Neal, Mulgan Geoff (2007): "Making the most of Local Innovation: What makes places Innovative and how Local innovations can best be exploited." Young Foundation/NESTA. UK
- Jones Campbell, Spicer André (2005): "The Sublime Object of Entrepreneurship." Organization 2005; 12; 223. http://org.sagepub.com/cgi/content/abstract/12/2/223
- Kay Alan (2006): "Social capital, the social economy and community development." Community Development Journal. Vol. 41. No 2. April 2006. pp. 160-173.
- Laville Jean-Louis, Lemaître Andreia, Nyssens Marthe: "Public policies and social enterprises in Europe: the challenge of institutionalization." in Social Enterprise. Routledge. London.
- Leadbeater Martin (1997): "The rise of the social entrepreneur." DEMOS. London Download: http://dsi.britishcouncil.org.cn/images/socialentrepreneur.pdf
- March G. James, Olsen P. Johan (1989): "Rediscovering Institutions –The Organizational basis of Politics." The Free Press. New York.
- Meyer W. John, Rowan Brian (1977): "Institutionalized organizations: Formal Structure as Myth and Ceremony." in The American Journal of Sociology. Vol. 83. No 2 (sep. 1977), pp. 340-363.
- Moulart Frank, Martinelli, Flavia, Swyngedouw, Erik, Gonzalez Sara. (2004): "Towards Alternative Models of local Innovation." Urban Studies 2005, Vol. 42, pp. 1969-1990.
- Mulgan Geoff, Ali Rushanara, Halkett Richard, Sanders Ben (2007): "In and out of sync. The challenge of growing social innovations." NESTA. National Endowment for Science, Technology and the Arts. UK.
- Mulgan Geoff, Tucker Simon, Ali Rushanara Sanders Ben Skoll (2007): "Social Innovation: What It Is, Why It Matters and How It can be Accelerated."

  Centre Oxford Said Business School.

- Nyssens Marthe (ed.) (2006): "Social enterprise: at the crossroads of market, public policies and civil society." London. Routledge.
- Rago Sara, Fæster Monika (2008): "Social Enterprises as Democracy and Development Promoters. Comparing Danish and Italian Sampels." Roskilde University. Denmark.
- Rambøll Management (2006): "Barrierer og udviklingsmuligheder –Samarbejde mellem kommuner og frivillige organisationer og socialt arbejde." Socialministeriet. København: http://www.vfm.dk/Temaer/sociale-omraader/frivillig-sektor/Documents / pub4.pdf
- Roger L. Martin, Osberg, Sally (2007): "Social Entrepreneurship: The Case for Definition." Stanford Social Innovation Review. Leland Stanford Jr. University.
- Schneider Mark, Teske Paul, Mintrom Michael (1995): "Public Entrepreneurs Agents for Change in American Government." Princeton University Press.